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Opinion

NORCOTT, J. In Garcetti v. Ceballos, 547 U.S. 410,
421,126 S. Ct. 1951, 164 L. Ed. 2d 689 (2006), the United
States Supreme Court concluded “that when public
employees make statements pursuant to their official
duties, the employees are not speaking as citizens for
[flirst [a]Jmendment! purposes, and the [c]onstitution
does not insulate their communications from employer
discipline.” The principal issue in this appeal requires
us to determine whether the rule in Garcetti is applica-
ble in an action brought against a private employer
pursuant to General Statutes § 31-51q,? claiming that
adverse employment actions taken in response to
speech made during the course of an employee’s job
duties amounted to retaliation for the exercise of rights
guaranteed by the first amendment to the United States
constitution. The plaintiff, G. Berry Schumann,® a twelve
year employee of the defendant, Dianon Systems, Inc.,
brought a two count complaint against the defendant,
alleging a violation of § 31-561q and common-law wrong-
ful termination of employment, following the defen-
dant’s termination of the plaintiff's employment as a
senior pathologist. The defendant appeals® from the
judgment of the trial court, rendered after a jury trial,
awarding the plaintiff $10,136,015. On appeal, the defen-
dant claims, inter alia, that the trial court improperly
disregarded controlling principles under the first
amendment by declining to apply the rule in Garcetti
in instructing the jury and in denying the defendant’s
posttrial motions for a new trial, to set aside the verdict
and for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. We con-
clude that the trial court improperly failed to grant
judgment in the defendant’s favor on the count of the
complaint under § 31-51q because the plaintiff’s speech
was in the course of his employment duties for the
defendant and, therefore, was not entitled to first
amendment protection under Garcetti. We further
decline to reach the plaintiff’'s proffered alternative
ground for affirmance, namely, that Garcetti is not
applicable under article first, § 4, of the constitution of
Connecticut, because even if it is properly before us,
the plaintiff’'s speech would not have been protected
under the pre-Garcetti standards that he would have
us apply.® Accordingly, we reverse the judgment of the
trial court.

The record reveals the following facts that the jury
reasonably could have found, and procedural history.
The defendant is a medical testing laboratory located in
Stratford, which performs diagnostic tests of biological
samples, including tissue and bodily fluid specimens.
Among the tests performed is urine cytology, which
examines cells found in urine in order to detect various
forms of cancer and other abnormalities. The defendant
performs tests as ordered by the requesting physicians
and, upon completion of the test, generates a report



that contains the test results and diagnosis. Once the
reports are approved by one of the defendant’s staff
pathologists, they are sent to the requesting physician.

In December, 1992, the defendant extended an offer
of employment to the plaintiff, an experienced cytopa-
thologist.® The plaintiff accepted the offer and began
to work for the defendant as its director of cytology’ and
cytotechnology® in January, 1993, reporting to James
Amberson, the then vice president of pathology services
and laboratory director.’

Before beginning his employment with the defendant,
the plaintiff had developed a specialized urine test,
called cytodiagnostic urinalysis, which examined hema-
turia, or “the presence of blood in urine.” The plaintiff
provided this test to other physicians before he began to
work for the defendant. When he joined the defendant in
1993, the plaintiff licensed this test to the defendant
under the trade name Microcyte. Although prior to its
implementation of Microcyte the defendant had offered
other urine diagnostic tests, Microcyte represented an
advancement over the defendant’s earlier offerings that
examined only cells from the bladder or lower urinary
tract; Microcyte examined cells above, including the
kidney. Because of this distinguishing feature, Micro-
cyte provided a noninvasive alternative to kidney biops-
ies. Microcyte also had an increased sensitivity for
detecting bladder cancer and other abnormalities. In
addition, Microcyte offered the benefit of integrating
two separate analyses, a cellular analysis and a chemi-
cal analysis, into one reporting format. The chemical
component focused on chemical analyses of analytes
and substances in the urine sample, whereas the cellular
component involved the examination of the cells in the
urine sample.

Microcyte proved to be a successful diagnostic ser-
vice for the defendant, and, in 1996, the defendant
launched Microcyte II, which modified the original test
by integrating DNA analysis as an adjunctive compo-
nent. This DNA test provided results that included an
analysis of the chromosomes within a cell, which indi-
cated, inter alia, if there were an abnormal number
of chromosomes. The Microcyte tests continued to be
successful from the date of their inception through
2004, and outpaced the defendant’s original urine cytol-
ogy test, Urocyte.

Shortly after Amberson’s promotion in 2001 to execu-
tive medical director; see footnote 9 of this opinion; the
plaintiff, citing personal reasons, resigned as director
of the urocytopathology laboratory, a position he had
assumed in 1996. The plaintiff continued, however, with
his diagnostic and research and development responsi-
bilities as a senior staff pathologist. In that capacity,
the plaintiff worked on Microcyte and prostate biopsy
samples. At that time, the plaintiff also retained control
of his independently owned corporations, which



included Schumann Diagnostics, Inc., and Schumann
Cytology Laboratories, Inc., and maintained business
relationships with other organizations, which included
Orion Laboratories, Inc., Diagnostic Oncology CRO,
Inc., and the University of Connecticut School of Allied
Health Professionals.

In November, 2001, the defendant merged with
another laboratory testing company, UroCor, which
was located in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Thereafter,
in early 2003, another company, Laboratory Corpora-
tion of America (LabCorp), purchased the defendant.
At that time, the testing sites in Oklahoma City and
Stratford were both owned by LabCorp. As part of the
subsequent standardization process between the two
sites, Amberson, who at that time was executive medi-
cal director and laboratory director of the Stratford site,
was charged with, inter alia, standardizing the terminol-
ogy used in the urine cytology programs at the two sites.

The standardization process resulted in the creation
of a new urine testing service called MicrocytePlus.
MicrocytePlus included an additional analytical test,
Urovysion, which was a molecular genetics test that
utilized fluorescent in situ hybridization technology, a
method of examining not just the number of chromo-
somes in a given cell, but also the quality of those
chromosomes. It provided medical professionals with
an additional method of monitoring patient health. Uro-
vysion was, therefore, a more sensitive test that could
detect and assess the risk of developing or recurring
bladder cancer with greater accuracy than could the
defendant’s standard urine tests. The combination of
traditional cytology with Urovysion was the hallmark
of MicrocytePlus, and was the genesis of the plaintiff’s
eventual dispute with the defendant.

Amberson also proposed a new set of diagnostic
terms to be used in the reports generated by the new
MicrocytePlus testing process. Before MicrocytePlus
was offered, standard Microcyte reports, which
informed the requesting physician of the test results
and the diagnostic impressions made by the interpreting
pathologist, used specific diagnostic language that
included six diagnostic categories, two of the most obvi-
ous being “negative” and “cancer.” Amberson’s newly
proposed terms included five diagnostic categories and
was his attempt to resolve the ongoing conflict between
the two labs about how many diagnostic categories to
use, as well as which ones.

In late January, 2005, Amberson called a meeting of
the staff pathologists, which included the plaintiff, and
officially presented the new MicrocytePlus product, as
well as the new diagnostic terms. Although the plaintiff
remained silent throughout the meeting, he was
shocked to learn that the MicrocytePlus product was
so close to launch in the absence of any clinical research
supporting Amberson’s proposal to integrate Urovysion



into the Microcyte testing profile and roll out a new
set of diagnostic terminology. During the presentation,
Mary Lachman, another staff pathologist, voiced her
concerns that, because Urovysion was a molecular
genetics test performed by technicians over whom she
had no control, she was not comfortable signing out,
or approving, the new MicrocytePlus reports. Amberson
did not address Lachman’s concerns at the meeting and,
shortly thereafter, he removed her from the urine
service.

Sometime after the meeting, the plaintiff spoke with
Amberson directly to express his disapproval of Micro-
cytePlus. He specifically told Amberson that he took
issue with the lack of clinical research supporting the
reasoning and methodology behind the integrated test,
and the lack of any validation studies showing that the
defendant could accurately perform and replicate the
test inside its own facilities. The plaintiff also told
Amberson that the proposed diagnostic language,
which adopted the diagnostic terms from a different
classification system, was inappropriate for urine cytol-
ogy results, could confuse the requesting physicians
and, ultimately, harm patients. The plaintiff explained
to Amberson that these changes posed a safety issue
and that it was Amberson’s responsibility to ensure that
patient safety was being maintained.

The plaintiff also voiced his objections to others,
relaying his concerns to Lachman, telling Joan Parise,
a senior cytotechnologist on the Microcyte service, that
he “didn’t understand how Microcyte worked” and that
this new service went against what they had built, and
telling Joanne Miller, the lab oratory manager, that he
could not “sign out a reporting or testing where [he]
didn’t understand where the information came from,
how it was developed” or “sign out language which
nobody had explained to [him] what it means . . . .”

The defendant officially launched MicrocytePlus on
or about February 1, 2005. The plaintiff, upon his return
from a vacation in March, met with Amberson and
Miller, at which time Amberson removed the plaintiff
from urine services and explained to him that he could
not “go into the room that’s providing that service
unless you do the MicrocytePlus the way we want to
do [it].” The plaintiff continued to work on the prostate
biopsy service and to sign out a limited number of urine
cases. The plaintiff also tried to resolve the conflict he
had with the use of MicrocytePlus, to no avail.

Finally, on Monday, April 4, 2005, Amberson and Pat
Noland, the defendant’s business leader, met with the
plaintiff upon his arrival at work. Amberson and Noland
explained to the plaintiff that there had been a meeting
scheduled the previous Friday, April 1, which the plain-
tiff had missed because he had spent that day in Gales-
burg, Illinois. Although the plaintiff was unaware of this
meeting and had taken a personal day, notifying the



defendant on the morning of April 1 that he would not
be present that day, Amberson and Noland nevertheless
proceeded to terminate the plaintiff's employment at
that time, citing his unexcused absence and his decision
not to use the new diagnostic terms."

The plaintiff, following his termination, was unsuc-
cessful at securing full-time employment. His only
income came from two online courses that he offered,
a small consulting contract with Diagnostic Oncology
CRO, Inc., and unemployment insurance. In addition, in
late 2007, the plaintiff sustained out-of-pocket hospital
expenses of $192,534.16, which he incurred because he
was not covered by employer provided health
insurance.

Thereafter, the plaintiff brought this action against
the defendant, alleging wrongful termination in viola-
tion of § 31-51q and the common law. After the trial
court denied the defendant’s motion for summary judg-
ment, the case proceeded to a jury trial. The jury
returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff on the count
under § 31-51q,!! awarding him economic damages in
the amount of $4,240,211." According to the interroga-
tories, the jury specifically found that the plaintiff
proved, by a preponderance of the evidence, that: (1)
“he spoke out on matters of public concern, and that
he was motivated to do so as a public citizen rather
than for his own private interests”; (2) “his speech was
a substantial and motivating factor in [the defendant’s]
decision to terminate his employment”’; and (3) “his
speech did not substantially or materially interfere with
his bona fide job performance or his working relation-
ship with [the defendant].” The defendant filed motions
for remittitur, judgment notwithstanding the verdict, a
new trial, and to set aside the verdict (posttrial
motions), which the trial court denied." The trial court
subsequently granted the plaintiff’'s motion for attor-
ney’s fees, punitive damages' and offer of judgment
interest, and rendered judgment for the plaintiff in the
amount of $10,136,015. This appeal followed.

On appeal, the defendant claims that the trial court
improperly disregarded relevant first amendment prin-
ciples in instructing the jury and in deciding the posttrial
motions: (1) by declining to apply Garcetti v. Ceballos,
supra, 547 U.S. 410, thus subjugating the defendant’s
own free speech rights in favor of the plaintiff’s; and (2)
because the plaintiff’s speech was not constitutionally
protected under, inter alia, Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S.
138, 103 S. Ct. 1684, 75 L. Ed. 2d 708 (1983), since it
(a) was not related to a matter of public concern, (b)
qualified as insubordinate conduct, and (c) materially
and substantially interfered with his job performance
and working relationships.”” In response, the plaintiff
contends otherwise, and also posits, as an alternative
ground for affirmance, that article first, § 4, of the Con-
necticut constitution provides him with greater protec-



tion than does the federal constitution, and thus
precludes the application of Garcetti.'* Additional facts
will be set forth as necessary.

I

We begin with the defendant’s claim that the trial
court improperly denied its posttrial motions because,
pursuant to Garcettt v. Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 410,
the plaintiff’'s speech, which was made in the course
of his job duties as a pathologist, did not constitute
constitutionally protected speech actionable under
§ 31-51q. Specifically, the defendant argues that, under
Daley v. Aetna Life & Casualty Co., 249 Conn. 766, 734
A.2d 112 (1999), the trial court was bound to apply
Garcetti in deciding the federal constitutional claims
brought against it under § 31-51q because that statute
“merely applies the first amendment in the private
employment context,” rendering United States
Supreme Court “precedent as the controlling authority
in determining the scope of workplace speech.” Thus,
the defendant contends that the trial court improperly
failed to consider the effect of Garcettti on Supreme
Court case law previously recognized as controlling,
such as Connick v. Myers, supra, 461 U.S. 138. In
response, the plaintiff contends that the rule set forth
in Garcetti is incompatible with § 31-51q, because Gar-
cettr establishes a broad class of employees—those
speaking pursuant to their official duties—whose
speech would be precluded categorically from first
amendment protection, while § 31-561q avoids such a
broad classification and instead requires proof of actual
interference with the employee’s job performance or
working relationships before excluding employee
speech from protection. Citing numerous lower court
decisions on point, including a decision from the United
States District Court for the District of Connecticut,
Trusz v. UBS Realty Investors, LLC, United States Dis-
trict Court, Docket No. 3:09¢v268 (JBA) (D. Conn.
March 30, 2010), the plaintiff also argues that Garcetti,
which involved a public employer-employee relation-
ship, should not be applied to the private workplace.
Finally, the plaintiff contends that the trial court’s fail-
ure to apply Garcettt was harmless error not requiring
reversal because the plaintiff’'s speech was not made
pursuant to his “official duties.” We agree with the
defendant and conclude that the trial court improperly
failed to apply Garcetti to the plaintiff’s first amend-
ment claims brought against a private employer pursu-
ant to § 31-51q.

We first note that “[oJur review of a trial court’s
refusal to direct a verdict or to render judgment notwith-
standing the verdict takes place within carefully defined
parameters. We must consider the evidence, including
reasonable inferences which may be drawn therefrom,
in the light most favorable to the parties who were
successful at trial . . . [and] giving particular weight



to the concurrence of the judgments of the judge and
the jury, who saw the witnesses and heard the testimony

. The verdict will be set aside and judgment
directed only if we find that the jury could not reason-
ably and legally have reached their conclusion.” (Inter-
nal quotation marks omitted.) Label Systems Corp. v.
Aghamohammadz, 270 Conn. 291, 301, 852 A.2d 703
(2004).

We also note that the defendant’s claim with respect
to whether Garcetti v. Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 410,
applies to private employers for purposes of main-
taining an action under § 31-51q, presents issues of con-
stitutional law and statutory interpretation over which
we exercise plenary review. See, e.g., HVT, Inc. v. Law,
300 Conn. 623, 629, 16 A.3d 686 (2011) (statutory inter-
pretation under General Statutes § 1-2z); State v. Kirby,
280 Conn. 361, 378, 908 A.2d 506 (2006) (constitutional
issues). Moreover, should we determine that Garcetti
applies, application of that rule to the facts of this case
to determine whether the speech is constitutionally pro-
tected thereunder further presents a question of law
over which our review is plenary. See, e.g., Jackler v.
Byrne, 658 F.3d 225, 238 (2d Cir. 2011); accord DiMar-
tino v. Richens, 263 Conn. 639, 661-62, 822 A.2d 205
(2003), citing Connick v. Myers, supra, 461 U.S. 148 n.7;
see also DiMartino v. Richens, supra, 663-64
(reviewing court conducts “independent review” of fac-
tual record and findings as to protected status of
speech).

A

We begin with a review of the background legal prin-
ciples that govern an action brought under § 31-51q,
which “creates a statutory cause of action for damages
against ‘(ajny employer’ for ‘any employee’ who has
been subjected ‘to discipline or discharge on account
of the exercise by such employee of rights guaranteed
by the first amendment to the United States [c]onstitu-
tion or section 3, 4 or 14 of article first of the [c]onstitu-
tion of the state . . . .’ On its face, the statute extends
the protection of federal and state constitutional rights
intwo respects. It provides coverage for private employ-
ees as well as for governmental employees, and it
imposes liability on private employers as well as govern-
mental employers.” Cotto v. United Technologies Corp.,
251 Conn. 1, 6, 738 A.2d 623 (1999). In Cotto, we con-
cluded that the protections of § 31-51q were not limited
to speech on public property but, rather, extended to
employee speech in the private workplace as well.
Id., 16.

A clear prerequisite to the application of § 31-51q,
however, is that the speech at issue must be constitu-
tionally protected; only the “exercise . . . of rights
guaranteed by the first amendment to the United States
[c]onstitution or section 3, 4 or 14 of article first of the
[c]onstitution of the state” falls within the ambit of the



statute. General Statutes § 31-51q; see Daley v. Aetna
Life & Casualty Co., supra, 249 Conn. 777 (“[§] 31-561q
applies to constitutionally protected speech”); see also
Perez-Dickson v. Bridgeport, 304 Conn. 483, 498,
A.3d (2012) (rejecting argument that violation of
whistle-blowing statute, General Statutes § 31-51m,
“can form the basis of a claim pursuant to § 31-51q,
even if the employee was not exercising constitutional
speech rights”).

As a background matter, we note that the case law
concerning the first amendment rights of employees
by and large addresses claims against governmental
employers, for the very elementary reason that there
can be no first amendment violation without state
action. See, e.g., Cohen v. Cowles Media Co., 501 U.S.
663, 668, 111 S. Ct. 2513, 115 L. Ed. 2d 586 (1991); see
also Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., 457 U.S. 922, 937,
102 S. Ct. 2744, 73 L. Ed. 2d 482 (1982) (action may be
brought against private actor under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 if
“conduct allegedly causing the deprivation of a federal
right be fairly attributable to the [s]tate,” namely [1]
“caused by the exercise of some right or privilege cre-
ated by the [s]tate or by a rule of conduct imposed
by the [s]tate or by a person for whom the [s]tate is
responsible” and [2] “the party charged with the depri-
vation must be a person who may fairly be said to be
a state actor”). Thus, federal case law concerning the
speech rights of government employees is informative
insofar as § 31-61q creates a statutory cause of action
that serves to vitiate the state action requirement with
respect to private sector employers. See Tiernan v.
Charleston Area Medical Center,203 W. Va. 135, 147-48,
506 S.E.2d 578 (1998) (describing relationship of § 31-
51q to first amendment state action requirement).

Thus, we next turn to the applicable constitutional
principles governing the protected status of employee
speech under the federal constitution as interpreted by
the United States Supreme Court, wherein it is “well
established that a . . . government may not compel
individuals to relinquish their first amendment rights
as a condition to obtaining government employment.”
DiMartino v. Richens, supra, 263 Conn. 665. In “Picker-
ing v. Board of Education, [391 U.S. 563, 568, 88 S. Ct.
1731, 20 L. Ed. 2d 811 (1968)] . . . the court . . . rec-
ognized that a government has interests as an employer
in regulating the speech of its employees that differ
significantly from those it possesses in connection with
regulation of the speech of the citizenry in general. The
court then set forth a general principle governing the
constitutionality of government restrictions on the
speech of its employees: in evaluating the constitution-
ality of government restrictions on an employee’s
speech, a court must arrive at a balance between the
interests of the [employee], as a citizen, in commenting
upon matters of public concern and the interest of the
[s]tate, as an employer, in promoting the efficiency of



the public services it performs . . . . Id.

“In Connick v. Myers, supra, 461 U.S. 150, the court
added amodification to the general balancing test prom-
ulgated in Pickering. Under Connick, if a government
employee’s speech cannot be fairly characterized as
constituting speech on a matter of public concern, it is
unnecessary . . . to scrutinize the reasons for [his or]
her discharge. . . . The court reasoned that if an
employee’s speech addresses matters of exclusively pri-
vate concern, the government interest in latitude [to
manage] their offices, without intrusive oversight by
the judiciary . . . would outweigh the first amendment
interests in the speech, absent the most unusual circum-
stances . . . .

“Whether an employee’s speech addresses a matter
of public concern must be determined by the content,
form, and context of [the speech], as revealed by the
whole record. . . . An employee’s speech addresses a
matter of public concern when the speech can be fairly
considered as relating to any matter of political, social,
or other concern to the community . . . .” (Citations
omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) DiMartino
v. Richens, supra, 263 Conn. 666-67.

In Garcetti v. Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 413, which
was decided subsequent to our decision in DiMartino
articulating the tests in Pickering and Connick, the
Supreme Court considered “whether the [f]irst [a]mend-
ment protects a government employee from discipline
based on speech made pursuant to the employee’s offi-
cial duties.” Garcetti arose from retaliatory actions
taken against a prosecutor who had antagonized col-
leagues and superiors when he criticized, both orally
and in writing, the accuracy of a sheriff’s affidavit in
support of a search warrant—at one point recommend-
ing the dismissal of the criminal case. See id., 414-15.
After noting the practical difficulties of applying the
principles articulated in Pickering and Connick; see
id., 418-19; the court then observed that “[g]overnment
employers, like private employers, need a significant
degree of control over their employees’ words and
actions; without it, there would be little chance for
the efficient provision of public services. . . . Public
employees, moreover, often occupy trusted positions
in society. When they speak out, they can express views
that contravene governmental policies or impair the
proper performance of governmental functions.” (Cita-
tion omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Id.,
418-19; see also id., 422 (The court discussed “prece-
dents . . . affording government employers sufficient
discretion to manage their operations. Employers have
heightened interests in controlling speech made by an
employee in his or her professional capacity.”). The
court emphasized that “[u]nderlying [its] cases has been
the premise that while the [f]irst [a]mendment invests
public employees with certain rights,'” it does not



empower them to ‘constitutionalize the employee griev-
ance.’ ” Id., 420, quoting Connick v. Myers, supra, 461
U.S. 154. Thus, the court concluded that, “when public
employees make statements pursuant to their official
duties, the employees are not speaking as citizens for
[flirst [aJmendment purposes, and the [c]onstitution
does not insulate their communications from employer
discipline.”®® Garcetti v. Ceballos, supra, 421; see also
id., 421-22 (the court noted that “[r]estricting speech
that owes its existence to a public employee’s profes-
sional responsibilities does not infringe any liberties
the employee might have enjoyed as a private citizen,”
and that first amendment “does not invest [government
employees] with a right to perform their jobs however
they see fit . . . [but] simply reflects the exercise of
employer control over what the employer itself has
commissioned or created”).

Consistent with our decision in the companion case
also decided today; see Perez-Dickson v. Bridgeport,
supra, 304 Conn. 483; we agree with the federal circuit
courts of appeal that have considered the issue and
unanimously have concluded that Garcetti adds a
threshold layer of analysis, requiring courts to first
determine whether an employee is speaking pursuant
to his official duties before turning to the remainder of
the first amendment analysis set forth in Pickering and
Connick. See, e.g., Leverington v. Colorado Springs,
643 F.3d 719, 724 (10th Cir. 2011); Fvans-Marshall v.
Board of Education, 624 F.3d 332, 343 (6th Cir. 2010),
cert. denied, U.S. | 131 S. Ct. 3068, 180 L. Ed. 2d
889 (2011); Sousa v. Roque, 578 F.3d 164, 170 (2d Cir.
2009); Huppert v. Pittsburg, 574 F.3d 696, 703 (9th Cir.
2009); Winder v. Erste, 566 F.3d 209, 214 (D.C. Cir.
2009); Chaklos v. Stevens, 560 F.3d 705, 712 (7th Cir.
2009); Curran v. Cousins, 509 F.3d 36, 44-45 (1st Cir.
2007); Foraker v. Chaffinch, 501 F.3d 231, 243 (3d Cir.
2007), abrogated on other grounds by Duryea v. Guar-
nieri, US. , 131 S. Ct. 2488, 180 L. Ed. 2d 408
(2011); Davison v. Minneapolis, 490 F.3d 648, 655 (8th
Cir. 2007); Vila v. Padron, 484 F.3d 1334, 1339 (11th
Cir. 2007); Williams v. Dallas Independent School Dis-
trict, 480 F.3d 689, 692 (5th Cir. 2007); see also Andrew
v. Clark, 561 F.3d 261, 268 (4th Cir. 2009). But see
Brammer-Hoelter v. Twin Peaks Charter Academy, 492
F.3d 1192, 1202 n.4 (10th Cir. 2007) (noting that Garcetti
added new “first step” but that “[d]istrict courts remain
free, however, to skip the Garcetti analysis and dismiss
or grant summary judgment on the basis of the tradi-
tional Pickering analysis when a claim clearly fails
because the matters discussed are not matters of public
concern”). Thus, we now turn to the principal issue in
this appeal, namely, whether the rule in Garcetti applies
to private employers as well as public employers, which
is an appellate issue of first impression.

B



The defendant contends that precluding the applica-
tion of Garcetti to private employers in an action
brought pursuant to § 31-561q would render the statute
“an absurdity” as applied to the health care industry
because “[v]irtually every workplace dispute involving
a health care worker would become a free speech case

. with every employee serving as a roving ombuds-
man free to overrule her employer,” thus creating a
“lose/lose situation, no matter what the company does
[wherein] someone will be unhappy with the result and
could claim a free speech right to refuse to accept the
employer’s decision.” In considering the merit of this
argument, we begin with a review of the few cases that
have considered this issue, beginning with a Connecti-
cut federal district court decision, Trusz v. UBS Realty
Investors, LLC, supra, United States District Court,
Docket No. 3:09cv268 (JBA), wherein Judge Arterton
concluded that the retaliation claim brought under § 31-
51q by a real estate appraiser who had criticized his
employer’s improper property valuation practices was
not subject to Garcetti. In so concluding, the court
determined that “Garcetti . . . was expressly limited
only to employees who work in the public sector; the
[c]ourt [in Garcetti] explained that when the respon-
dent in that case . . . ‘went to work and performed
the tasks he was paid to perform, [he] acted as a govern-
ment employee,” and held that ‘[r]estricting speech that
owes its existence to a public employee’s professional
responsibilities does not infringe any liberties the
employee might have enjoyed as a private citizen.’ . . .
The Supreme Court in Garcetti did not address any
limitations on the exercise of free speech by private
employees. Moreover, Garcetti has not been applied to
[§] 31-561q.” (Citation omitted.) Id., n.8. The court further
rejected the defendants’ attempt to extend the logic of
Garcettt into the private sector under an argument that
“I§] 31-61q and [42 U.S.C. §] 1983 are analogous, and
thus, the parameters of their speech protections should
be the same.” Id. Following the Appellate Court’s deci-
sion in Cotto v. United Technologies Corp., 48 Conn.
App. 618, 629, 711 A.2d 1180, aff'd, 2561 Conn. 1, 738
A.2d 623 (1999), the District Court determined that the
“obvious difference” between the statutes “is in the
context of private employment, because [§] 31-51q cov-
ers private employers while [§] 1983 does not. . . . The
Connecticut legislature intended to ‘provide coverage
for the exercise of constitutional rights at a private as
well as at a public workplace.” . . . Although [f]irst
[almendment protections extend to private employees
in Connecticut, it does not follow that the rationale
for public workplace limitations delineated in Garcetti
should also apply to private workplaces. As a remedial
statute, [§] 31-61q ‘deserves a generous construction
that implements its purpose’ . . . and the Garcetti
[c]ourt explicitly directed its holding only to public
employees.” (Citations omitted.) Trusz v. UBS Realty



Investors, LLC, supra, n.8;" see also Shand v. Martin,
United States District Court, Docket No. 2:07-cv-13100
(E.D. Mich. May 23, 2008) (declining to apply Garcetti
to sports talk radio host employed by private radio
station because Supreme Court “limited its express
holding to the [f]irst [aJmendment rights of public
employees” and “there was nothing about [the plain-
tiff’s] commentary [criticizing the University of Michi-
gan athletic director and the athletic department] that
was central to his employment as a radio show host”);
cf. McClain v. Pfizer, Inc., United States District Court,
Docket No. 3:06-cv-1795 (D. Conn. March 7, 2008) (deny-
ing employer’s motion for summary judgment on claim
under § 31-51q arising from scientist’s continued com-
plaints about way that employer handled waste created
during stem cell research, but not citing or consider-
ing Garceettr).

We disagree with those cases holding Garcetti inap-
plicable in the private sector because of their incongru-
ous effect of giving private sector employees greater
workplace free speech rights than those afforded to
their public sector counterparts—a result plainly not
envisioned in the Supreme Court’s decision, which rec-
ognized that “[g]lovernment employers, like private
employers, need a significant degree of control over
their employees’ words and actions; without it, there
would be little chance for the efficient provision of
public services.” (Emphasis added.) Garcetti v.
Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 418. Rather, we agree with
the reasoning of another federal district court decision
revealed by our independent research, namely, German
v. Fox, United States District Court, Docket No.
5:06CV00119 (W.D. Va. April 26, 2007), aff'd, 267 Fed.
Appx. 231 (4th Cir. 2008) (per curiam). In German, the
plaintiff, who was director of public relations for a
private, nonprofit organization that promotes travel in
southwestern Virginia, claimed that his employment
had been terminated in retaliation for numerous e-mails
he had sent to various state officials and employees
criticizing the location and facilities of a temporarily
relocated welcome center. Id. Determining that state
action requirements were satisfied under 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 because the plaintiff had alleged that his termina-
tion had been coerced by a state official, the court
nevertheless concluded that the plaintiff’s statements
were not protected by the first amendment. Id. The
court rejected as ‘“unpersuasive” the plaintiff’s claim
that “Garcetti is inapplicable to the present case,
because it did not involve the termination of a private
employee,” stating that, “[w]hile Garcetti specifically
held that a public employee has no [f]irst [aJmendment
protection for job-related ‘official’ speech . . . the
case did not alter the general rule that private employ-
ees are generally entitled to less [f]irst [a]mendment
protection than public employees. . . . To the con-
trary, in reaching its decision, the Supreme Court



emphasized that ‘[g]overnment employers, like private
employers, need a significant degree of control over
their employees’ words and actions.” . . . Thus, the
court agrees with the defendants that Garcetti essen-
tially affirms the right of every employer to control
its employees’ official job-related speech.” (Citations
omitted.) Id.; see also Kentner v. Timothy R. Downey
Ins., Inc., United States District Court, Docket No. 1:03-
cv-435-RLY-WTL (S.D. Ind. September 18, 2006) (even
if state action requirements were met, first amendment
retaliation claims brought against insurance company
that was third party administrator for public employee
benefit plan failed under Garcetti because speech was
made in plaintiff’'s capacity as defendant’s corporate
counsel); Logan v. Dept. of Corrections, United States
District Court, Docket No. 1:04-cv-0797-SEB-JPG (S.D.
Ind. June 26, 2006) (even if state action requirements
were met based on conspiracy between defendant pri-
vate prison health care provider, and state department
of correction officials, Garcetti barred claims arising
from statements made by health care administrator in
course of her employment by defendant).

Moreover, as the defendant notes, applying the rule
in Garceetti to retaliation claims brought by employees
against private employers under § 31-561q mitigates the
potential constitutional risks highlighted by Justice Bor-
den in his separate concurring and dissenting opinion
in Cotto v. United Technologies Corp., supra, 251 Conn.
20. Although the majority in Cotto declined to consider
this point on the ground that the employer in that case
did not argue it on appeal; see id., 7 n.5; Justice Borden
observed that “interpreting the statute to apply to pri-
vate workplace conduct could . . . bring two compet-
ing sets of expressive rights into conflict, and therefore
places the state, in the form of the courts, on one side
of that contest. Such a construction raises serious con-
stitutional issues. It is well established that we construe
statutes to avoid, rather than to confront, such issues.
Castagno v. Wholean, 239 Conn. 336, 344, 684 A.2d 1181
(1996).”* Cotto v. United Technologies Corp., supra,
30; but see also id., 21 (Borden, J., concurring and
dissenting) (concluding that § 31-51q “does not reach
expressive activity . . . that takes place on a private
employer’s property and involves only restrictive activ-
ity by his private, nongovernmental employer”).
Applying Garcetti to federal constitutional claims
brought under § 31-51q keeps courts from the constitu-
tionally untenable task of, in essence, having to choose
sides in a work-related viewpoint dispute between two
private actors.? Thus, we conclude that the rule in Gar-
cetti v. Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 410, applies to claims
under § 31-561q grounded in the first amendment that
are brought against private employers, and must be
considered as a threshold matter prior to undertaking
the Pickering/Connick balancing test articulated in
DiMartino v. Richens, supra, 263 Conn. 665.



C

The plaintiff claims, however, that the trial court’s
failure to instruct the jury on Garcetti or to apply that
rule in the context of the defendant’s posttrial motions
was harmless error not requiring reversal because the
statements at issue were not made in the course of his
duties as a pathologist for the defendant. Specifically,
the plaintiff argues that the statements are not subject
to Garceetti because “the protected speech in issue is not
a mere refusal to perform the new test—it is statements
regarding patient safety. Making these statements was
not part of [the plaintiff’s job]. His job was to sign out
tests. . . . The limited additional work he did involving
standardization of bladder cancer terminology is not
to be confused with work on MicrocytePlus. . . . The
development and launch of MicrocytePlus were never
[the plaintiff’s] responsibilities.” Relying on, inter alia,
Green v. Board of County Commissioners, 472 F.3d
794 (10th Cir. 2007), and Weintraub v. Board of Educa-
tion, 593 F.3d 196 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, Uus.
131 S. Ct. 444, 178 L. Ed. 2d 344 (2010), the defendant
argues, however, that this speech was directly related
to, and therefore “part and parcel”’ of, the plaintiff’s
duties as a pathologist, and therefore was not constitu-
tionally protected under Garcetti. The defendant
emphasizes that the plaintiff’s speech was simply a pro-
fessional disagreement with his supervisors about the
best way to process the reports, and therefore was not
subject to constitutional protection. We agree with the
defendant and conclude that the trial court should have
granted the defendant’s motion for judgment notwith-
standing the verdict on the claim under § 31-51q.

In Garcettr v. Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 424, the
Supreme Court noted that, because it was undisputed
that the prosecutor in that case had written the memo-
randum at issue pursuant to “his employment duties,”
the court did not need “to articulate [therein] a compre-
hensive framework for defining the scope of an employ-
ee’s duties in cases where there is room for serious
debate.” In dicta, the court “[r]eject[ed], however, the
suggestion that employers can restrict employees’
rights by creating excessively broad job descriptions.
. . . The proper inquiry is a practical one. Formal job
descriptions often bear little resemblance to the duties
an employee actually is expected to perform, and the
listing of a given task in an employee’s written job
description is neither necessary nor sufficient to dem-
onstrate that conducting the task is within the scope
of the employee’s professional duties for [f]irst [a]Jmend-
ment purposes.” (Citation omitted.) Id., 424-25.

Subsequent circuit court decisions have, following
this dicta, articulated tests for determining whether a
statement is made pursuant to an employee’s duties for
purposes of Garceetti. In Weintraub v. Board of Educa-
tion, supra, 593 F.3d 198, 201-202, the Second Circuit



rejected a schoolteacher’s claim that his filing of a union
grievance against administrators who had failed to dis-
cipline students was protected under the first amend-
ment and not subject to Garcetti, disagreeing with his
contention that only conduct “required” by his employ-
ment duties or employer’s policies was subject to Gar-
cetti. Rather, the court noted that, under Garcetti v.
Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 424, “[t]he objective inquiry
into whether a public employee spoke ‘pursuant to’ his
or her official duties is ‘a practical one,” ” and followed
the decisions of “other circuit courts® [that] have con-
cluded that speech that government employers have
not expressly required may still be ‘pursuant to official
duties,” so long as the speech is in furtherance of such
duties.” Weintraub v. Board of Education, supra, 202,
quoting Williams v. Dallas Independent School Dis-
trict, supra, 480 F.3d 694. The speech need not be con-
templated by the employee’s formal job description;
see Weintraub v. Board of Education, supra, 203; as
the practical determination requires consideration of
“the employee’s level of responsibility and the context
in which the statements were made.” Abcarian v.
McDonald, 617 F.3d 931, 937 (7th Cir. 2010), cert.
denied, U.S. , 131 S. Ct. 1685, 179 L. Ed. 2d 617
(2011); cf. Chaklos v. Stevens, 560 F.3d 705, 712 (7th
Cir. 2009) (Garcetti was not applicable to comments
made by moonlighting public employee scientists who
“signed their letter as employees of . . . an outside
company. They did not complain to their own supervi-
sors about matters relating to their jobs.”). The key
inquiry is “whether the speech activity stemmed from
and [was of] the type . . . that [the employee] was
paid to do,” and “the ultimate question in determining
whether speech falls within an employee’s official
duties is whether the employee speaks as a citizen or
instead as a government employee.” (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) Rohrbough v. University of Colorado,
596 F.3d 741, 746 (10th Cir. 2010); see also Jackler v.
Byrne, supra, 6568 F.3d 237 (“[a]s a rule of thumb, activi-
ties required of the employee as part of his employment
duties are not performed ‘as a citizen’ if they are not
‘the kind of activity engaged in by citizens who do
not work for the government’ ”). Put simply, on-the-job
speech generally is “pursuant to” an employee’s duties
when it is “part-and-parcel of his concerns about his
ability to properly execute his duties.” (Internal quota-
tion marks omitted.) Weintraub v. Board of Education,
supra, 203.

It is clear that the dispute in the present case arose
from the plaintiff’s statements to Amberson about the
safety of the Urovysion component of the new Microcy-
tePlus test and Amberson’s proposal of a new set of
diagnostic reporting terms, given the apparent lack of
clinical research to support those proposals. The plain-
tiff also criticized the utility and clarity of Amberson’s
diagnostic language as applied to urine testing results,



both to Amberson and other members of the defen-
dant’s staff, and refused to use it in connection with
the tests that he did perform.? Thus, the plaintiff’s con-
tention that making statements about patient safety is
not part of his job description as a pathologist, and was
not requested by the defendant, is inconsistent with the
rule of Weintraub v. Board of Education, supra, 593
F.3d 203, under which speech is “pursuant to” an
employee’s duties when it is “part-and-parcel of his
concerns about his ability to properly execute his
duties.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) See also
Abcarian v. McDonald, supra, 617 F.3d 937-38 (physi-
cian’s complaints about risk management, fees and sur-
geons’ abuse of prescription medications were “within
the scope” of his responsibilities as chief of surgery at
university hospitals); Rohrbough v. University of Colo-
rado, supra, 596 F.3d 748, 751 (nurse transplant coordi-
nator’s communications about “alleged staffing crisis,”
substandard patient care and heart transplant misallo-
cation were not protected speech under Garcetti
because they occurred during work hours and were
directed within chain of command); Green v. Board of
County Commisstioners, supra, 472 F.3d 800-801 (drug
test lab technician’s statements criticizing lack of con-
firmation testing and making arrangements for confir-
mation testing without consulting her supervisors
“stemmed from and were the type of activities that she
was paid to do” and therefore were not protected under
Garcettt). Moreover, the contentious nature of the
plaintiff’s dispute with Amberson did not render his
speech constitutionally protected under Garcetti,
because when an employee has spoken in furtherance
of his duties, “the fact that he persists in such speech
after a supervisor has told him to stop does not, without
more, transform his speech into protected speech.”*
Anemone v. Metropolitan Transportation Authority,
629 F.3d 97, 116 (2d Cir. 2011); id., 99, 116-17 (security
director’s statements outside chain of command to dis-
trict attorney about corruption within transportation
authority not protected by first amendment), citing
Thompson v. District of Columbia, 530 F.3d 914, 918
(D.C. Cir. 2008) (“it would be incongruous to interpret
Garcettt, a case concerned with allowing the govern-
ment to control its employees within their jobs, as giving
broader protections to disobedient employees who
decide they know better than their bosses how to per-
form their duties”). Accordingly, we conclude that the
plaintiff’s federal constitutional claims were barred by
Garcettt, and the trial court should have granted the
defendant’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the
verdict on the § 31-51q claim.?

II

Supported by the amici curiae, the plaintiff argues,
as an alternative ground for affirming the judgment of
the trial court, that article first, § 4, of the Connecticut
constitution® affords broader free speech rights than



does the federal constitution and, as such, precludes
the application of Garcetti. In support of this claim,
both the plaintiff and the amici provide comprehensive
independent state constitutional analyses briefed in
accordance with State v. Geisler, 222 Conn. 672, 610
A.2d 1225 (1992). The defendant contends, however,
that we should not review this claim because, although
it was mentioned in the plaintiff’s statement of issues
raised in the appeal pursuant to Practice Book § 63-4
(a), it was not raised before the trial court, wherein the
plaintiff’s complaint cited only the first amendment as
a resource of relevant speech protection and the plain-
tiff had filed memoranda referring to the state and fed-
eral free speech rights protected by §31-61q as
“equivalent.” We decline to reach the state constitu-
tional issue raised in the plaintiff’s alternative ground
for affirmance because, even if it is properly before us
notwithstanding our decision in the companion case,
Perez-Dickson v. Bridgeport, supra, 304 Conn. 483,%
the plaintiff’'s speech would not have been protected
under the pre-Garcetti standards that he would have

us apply.

“Established wisdom counsels us to exercise self-
restraint so as to eschew unnecessary determinations
of constitutional questions.” (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) State v. Fernandes, 300 Conn. 104, 111-12
12 A.3d 925, cert. denied, U.S. , 131 S. Ct. 2469,
179 L. Ed. 2d 1213 (2011). This is particularly so given
the state constitutional issue presented in this appeal,
namely, whether Garcetti applies as a matter of state
constitutional law®—a question of particular impor-
tance to governmental employers, none of whose inter-
ests are represented in this appeal, which involves only
private actors. Thus, we review the record to determine
first whether it is necessary to engage in adjudication
under our state constitution.

With respect to the state constitutional issues pre-
sented, we begin by noting that neither the plaintiff nor
the amicus; see footnote 16 of this opinion; argues for
a state constitutional standard different from the state
of the law pre-Garcetti, which required us to apply only
the Pickering/Connick balancing test;, see DiMartino
v. Richens, supra, 263 Conn. 665; under which this case
was tried.? Even assuming without deciding, however,
that Garcetti does not apply and the Pickering/Connick
balancing test remains the sole state constitutional stan-
dard for determining whether public employee speech
is constitutionally protected, we conclude that the
plaintiff’s speech and actions in this case were not con-
stitutionally protected under that rule. Accordingly, it
is unnecessary for us to decide the question of whether
Garcetti applies under the state constitution.

Specifically, we begin by noting that, although “[t]he
Pickering analysis requires particularized balancing
based on the unique facts presented in each case”; Voigt



v. Savell, 70 F.3d 1552, 1560-61 (9th Cir. 1995), cert.
denied, 517 U.S. 1209, 116 S. Ct. 1826, 134 L. Ed. 2d 931
(1996); whether the plaintiff’s speech was constitution-
ally protected is a question of law subject to “indepen-
dent” de novo review. See, e.g., DiMartino v. Richens,
supra, 263 Conn. 664. Only if the evidence, when viewed
in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, supported
the conclusion that the plaintiff’s speech was entitled
to such protection should the jury then have been per-
mitted to resolve disputed factual issues, with findings
subject to review only for clear error, under the other
elements of § 31-51q, such as motivation, causation and
whether his speech “substantially or materially inter-
fere[d] with [his] bona fide job performance or the
working relationship between the employee and [his]
employer . . . . General Statutes § 31-51q; see, e.g.,
Beckwith v. Daytona Beach Shores, 58 F.3d 1554, 1560
(11th Cir. 1995).

As discussed previously, in “Pickering v. Board of
Education, supra, 391 U.S. 568 . . . the court . . .
recognized that a government has interests as an
employer in regulating the speech of its employees that
differ significantly from those it possesses in connec-
tion with regulation of the speech of the citizenry in
general. The court then set forth a general principle
governing the constitutionality of government restric-
tions on the speech of its employees: in evaluating the
constitutionality of government restrictions on an
employee’s speech, a court must arrive at a balance
between the interests of the [employee], as a citizen,
in commenting upon matters of public concern and the
interest of the [s]tate, as an employer, in promoting the
efficiency of the public services it performs . . . .

“In Connick v. Myers, supra, 461 U.S. 150, the court
added amodification to the general balancing test prom-
ulgated in Pickering. Under Connick, if a government
employee’s speech cannot be fairly characterized as
constituting speech on a matter of public concern, it is
unnecessary . . . to scrutinize the reasons for [his or]
her discharge. . . . The court reasoned that if an
employee’s speech addresses matters of exclusively pri-
vate concern, the government interest in latitude [to
manage] their offices, without intrusive oversight by
the judiciary . . . would outweigh the first amendment
interests in the speech, absent the most unusual circum-
stances . . . .

“Whether an employee’s speech addresses a matter
of public concern must be determined by the content,
form, and context of [the speech], as revealed by the
whole record. . . . An employee’s speech addresses a
matter of public concern when the speech can be fairly
considered as relating to any matter of political, social,
or other concern to the community . . . .” (Citations
omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) DiMartino
v. Richens, supra, 263 Conn. 666—67.



Although the plaintiff’'s speech concerning Microcy-
tePlus related to the patient safety implications of the
new testing procedure, which is topically a matter of
“public concern”; see, e.g., Springer v. Henry, 435 F.3d
268, 275 (3d Cir. 2006); we nevertheless perform the
Pickering balancing test to determine “whether the
employee’s right to speak is outweighed by the . . .
employer’s interest in the effective operation of the
workplace.” Dangler v. New York City Off Track Bet-
ting Corp., 193 F.3d 130, 139 (2d Cir. 1999). “In the
Pickering balancing test, several factors are relevant,
including: ‘the extent of the disruption caused by the
employee’s speech on [1] workplace discipline, [2] har-
mony among co-workers, [3] working relationships, [4]
the employee’s job performance, [5] the responsibilities
of the employee within the agency and [6] whether the
speech is made publicly or privately . . . .”” (Citations
omitted.) Id. Further, “[i]n balancing protected [f]irst
[almendment activity against governmental disruption
we take into account the ‘manner, time, and place’ in
which [the] speech or activity occurred . . . keeping
in mind that the government is more likely to meet its
burden when an employee’s disruptive activity occurs
in the workplace than when the equivalent activity
occurs on an employee’s own time, away from work.”
(Citation omitted.) Melzer v. Board of Education, 336
F.3d 185, 197 (2d Cir. 2003). “In each case, the ultimate
question is whether the employee’s right to speak is
outweighed by the public employer’s interest in the
effective operation of the workplace.” (Internal quota-
tion marks omitted.) Dangler v. New York City Off
Track Betting Corp., supra, 140. Put differently, “[w]hen
considering [the plaintiff’s] remarks in the Pickering
calculus, we are obliged to look at the ordinary or fore-
seeable effect of the conduct in controversy and to
determine whether it would be reasonably calculated to
create division or to have impaired discipline.” (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Domiano v. River Grove, 904
F.2d 1142, 1145 (7th Cir. 1990).

Applying these principles to the facts of the present
case, it is readily apparent that the plaintiff’s speech in
its entirety was extraordinarily disruptive to his employ-
ment with the defendant and, therefore, not constitu-
tionally protected under the Pickering balancing test—
regardless of whether Garcetti applies. First, all of the
speech at issue took place in the work environment,
rather than on the plaintiff's own time. Second, the
speech greatly interfered with the plaintiff’s job perfor-
mance, as he acknowledges that, although he had been
directed to sign out urine cases using the new diagnostic
language, he refused to do so because of his concerns
regarding the safety and reliability of the new test, per-
forming only prostate biopsy tests and those few urine
tests that could be done without the new language. That
the plaintiff stopped performing nearly 50 percent of his
job responsibilities renders self-evident the disruption



caused by his speech on the defendant’s efficient
office operation.

With respect to the effect of the plaintiff’s speech on
his relationships with superiors and coworkers, it also
is undisputed that the plaintiff’s objections to the new
test and his refusal to sign out cases using the new
diagnostic codes placed considerable strain on his rela-
tionship with Amberson, who was not only the plain-
tiff’s supervisor, but also the individual responsible for
developing and launching the new diagnostic codes.
When Amberson told the plaintiff that he would be
removed from the urine service if he persisted in his
stance against using the new codes, the plaintiff chose
to leave the urine service rather than use the codes.
From that time until his termination, the plaintiff
worked only half a day on prostate cases, but continued
to receive his full salary, a fact that further exacerbated
tensions between the plaintiff and Amberson. Finally,
the plaintiff’s actions stoked division within the defen-
dant’s workforce, as the plaintiff, a senior cytopatholo-
gist who previously had held high level executive
positions with the defendant, was not reticent in
expressing his concerns about MicrocytePlus to lower
level employees such as Parise, a cytotechnologist, and
Miller, a lab oratory manager. See footnote 23 of this
opinion.

Finally, because the plaintiff’s speech in opposition
to the defendant’s new diagnostic codes was accompa-
nied by his refusal to use those codes, it was insubordi-
nate in nature, removing it from the ambit of
constitutional protection.? “[T]he [f]irst [a)mendment’s
shield does not extend to speech and conduct closely
connected with insubordination that impedes an
employee’s performance of his duties or that interferes
with the proper functioning of the workplace.”® (Inter-
nal quotation marks omitted.) Hankard v. Avon, 126
F.3d 418, 422 (2d Cir. 1997); see also, e.g., Connick v.
Muyers, supra, 461 U.S. 154 (termination prompted by
insubordination that can fairly be predicted to “disrupt
the office, undermine [supervisory] authority, and
destroy close working relationships . . . [does] not
offend the [f]irst [a]mendment”); Moran v. Washington,
147 F.3d 839, 850 (9th Cir. 1998) (“[t]he [f]irst [a]mend-
ment simply does not constitutionalize insubordina-
tion”). Because application of the Pickering test, even
without the Garcetti threshold analysis applicable
under the first amendment to the United States constitu-
tion; see part I A of this opinion; reveals that the plain-
tiff's speech was not constitutionally protected and,
therefore, not covered by § 31-561q, we simply need not,
and do not, decide the issue of whether Garcetti applies
under the state constitution.

The judgment is reversed and the case is remanded
with direction to render judgment for the defendant on
the claim under § 31-561q and for a new trial limited to



the plaintiff’'s common-law wrongful termination claim.

In this opinion ROGERS, C. J., and ZARELLA,
McLACHLAN, HARPER and VERTEFEUILLE, Js., con-

curred.

! The first amendment to the United States constitution provides in rele-
vant part: “Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of
speech . . . .”

2 General Statutes § 31-51q provides: “Any employer, including the state
and any instrumentality or political subdivision thereof, who subjects any
employee to discipline or discharge on account of the exercise by such
employee of rights guaranteed by the first amendment to the United States
Constitution or section 3, 4 or 14 of article first of the Constitution of the
state, provided such activity does not substantially or materially interfere
with the employee’s bona fide job performance or the working relationship
between the employee and the employer, shall be liable to such employee
for damages caused by such discipline or discharge, including punitive
damages, and for reasonable attorney’s fees as part of the costs of any such
action for damages. If the court determines that such action for damages
was brought without substantial justification, the court may award costs
and reasonable attorney’s fees to the employer.”

3 The plaintiff died on June 27, 2008. Thereafter, the coadministrators
of the plaintiff’s estate, Jennifer Schumann and Aaron Schumann, were
substituted as plaintiffs in this case. For convenience, we will refer to G.
Berry Schumann as the plaintiff.

*The defendant appealed from the judgment of the trial court to the
Appellate Court, and we transferred the appeal to this court pursuant to
General Statutes § 51-199 (c) and Practice Book § 65-1.

5 Article first, § 4, of the constitution of Connecticut provides: “Every
citizen may freely speak, write and publish his sentiments on all subjects,
being responsible for the abuse of that liberty.”

6 Cytopathology is the “study of disease changes within individual cells
or cell types.” Stedman’s Medical Dictionary (28th Ed. 2006) p. 490.

" Cytology is the “study of the anatomy, physiology, pathology, and chemis-
try of the cell.” Stedman’s Medical Dictionary (28th Ed. 2006) p. 489.

8 Cytotechnology refers to the methodology of testing cells.

9 Amberson had joined the defendant in 1989 and had helped institute its
urine cytology program. From 1994 to 2001, Amberson was the defendant’s
chief medical officer and laboratory director, and, in 2001, was promoted
to executive medical director of anatomic pathology, maintaining his role
as laboratory director, as well. At that time, the plaintiff continued to report
to Amberson.

0 The plaintiff had a history of disciplinary issues related to unexcused
and unapproved absences. In September, 2001, Amberson instructed the
plaintiff that there were to be no more unexcused absences and described
the procedure for taking time off. The following month, Amberson repri-
manded the plaintiff for a more recent unexcused absence. One month later,
the plaintiff was placed on a six month probationary period for an unexcused
absence. In June, 2004, Amberson again addressed the plaintiff’s unexcused
absences, which at times had delayed completion of the plaintiff’s daily work.

' Pursuant to the jury charge, the jury did not reach the common-law
wrongful termination count after finding in favor of the plaintiff on the
count under § 31-51q.

2The jury awarded the plaintiff $1,369,633 in past economic losses,
$2,609,404 in future economic losses, $225,425 in loss of life’s enjoyment,
past and future, and $35,749 in interest.

13 The plaintiff died from cancer on June 27, 2008. Following his death,
the defendant filed a motion for discovery of the plaintiff’s medical records,
contending that the plaintiff misled the jury regarding his medical condition.
The trial court granted the defendant’s motion, and after conducting posttrial
discovery, the defendant filed supplemental posttrial motions. In its memo-
randum of decision on the defendant’s supplemental posttrial motions, the
trial court summarized the defendant’s arguments as follows: “(1) that the
plaintiff failed to comply with requests for discovery regarding the nature
of his health; (2) that the plaintiff committed fraud; (3) that the plaintiff
committed perjury by making a false statement; and (4) that there is newly
discovered evidence.” After a hearing to determine whether the plaintiff
had committed perjury or fraud, the trial court denied the defendant’s supple-
mental posttrial motions.

" The jury had determined that the plaintiff had “proved by a preponder-



ance of the evidence that in terminating the plaintiff, the defendant acted
with an intentional design to injure his rights to speak out on issues of
public concern or with reckless indifference to whether it would injure
these rights.”

> The defendant also claims that the trial court improperly: (1) failed to
set aside the jury’s award of future damages as based on conjecture and
speculation; (2) denied his motion for remittitur; (3) upheld the award of
punitive damages in the absence of evidence of bad intent; and (4) instructed
the jury with respect to the award of punitive damages and the standard
governing common-law wrongful discharge. Because of our conclusion with
respect to the issues posed by this appeal related to Garcetti, we need not
reach these other claims.

We note that all of the defendant’s claims are properly preserved for
appellate review. The defendant, in accordance with Practice Book § 16-37,
moved for a directed verdict at the close of the plaintiff’s case-in-chief,
arguing, inter alia, that the plaintiff failed to prove that his speech was
constitutionally protected or that his speech did not materially and substan-
tially interfere with his job performance. The trial court, however, reserved
judgment on the defendant’s motion until the completion of trial. The defen-
dant renewed these arguments in its posttrial motions.

16 We note that the Connecticut Employment Lawyers Association filed
an amicus curiae brief arguing that the rule set forth in Garcetti v. Ceballos,
supra, 547 U.S. 410, is contrary to § 31-51q, the Connecticut constitution
and the decisions of the Connecticut courts.

"The Supreme Court further noted that its “employee-speech jurispru-
dence protects, of course, the constitutional rights of public employees. Yet
the [flirst [a]Jmendment interests at stake extend beyond the individual
speaker. The [c]ourt has acknowledged the importance of promoting the
public’s interest in receiving the well-informed views of government employ-
ees engaging in civic discussion.” Garcetti v. Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 419.

8 The court then noted that, with respect to the specific case before it,
whether the prosecutor had “expressed his views inside his office, rather
than publicly, is not dispositive. Employees in some cases may receive [f]irst
[a]Jmendment protection for expressions made at work.” Garcetti v. Ceballos,
supra, 547 U.S. 420. The court also noted that the fact that “[tlhe memo
concerned the subject matter of [the prosecutor’s] employment . . . [is]
too . . . nondispositive. The [f]irst [a]mendment protects some expressions
related to the speaker’s job.” Id., 421. Rather, the court concluded that the
“controlling factor . . . is that [the prosecutor’s] expressions were made
pursuant to his duties as a calendar deputy. . . . That consideration—the
fact that [the prosecutor] spoke . . . fulfilling a responsibility to advise his
supervisor about how best to proceed with a pending case—distinguishes
[his] case from those in which the [f]irst [a]mendment provides protection
against discipline.” (Citation omitted.) Id., 422; see also id., 421-22 (compar-
ing prosecutor to plaintiff in Pickering, “whose letter to the newspaper had
no official significance and bore similarities to letters submitted by numerous
citizens every day”). For further discussion of the case law exploring the
scope of employees’ duties for purposes of Garcetti, a matter that the
Supreme Court did not need to address in detail in that decision, see Garcetti
v. Ceballos, supra, 424-25, and part I C of this opinion.

1 We note that Connecticut Superior Court decisions on this point gener-
ally are consistent with the local federal District Court’s decision in Trusz
v. UBS Realty Investors, LLC, supra, United States District Court, Docket
No. 3:09¢v268 (JBA). See Lehmann v. Connecticut Legal Rights Project,
Inc., Superior Court, judicial district of Hartford, Docket No. CV-05-4018378-
S (September 19, 2008) (“[a]t this time, the court is aware of no decision
which extends Garcetti to private sector employees such as [the plaintiff,
an attorney], and therefore believes that the decision does not apply to this
situation”); Dubowsky v. New Britain General Hospital, Superior Court,
judicial district of New Britain, Docket No. CV-04-4001320-S (August 18,
2006) (holding Garcetti inapplicable to case brought by maintenance techni-
cian against hospital because “speech at issue in the present case was not
made by a public employee, such as the prosecutor/plaintiff in Garcetti,
whose speech occurred in the course of the fulfillment of his official duties”).
But see St. Fleur v. R.C. Bigelow, Inc., Superior Court, judicial district of
Fairfield, Docket No. CV-06-5004575-S (April 16, 2007) (assuming, without
deciding, that Garcetti applies to actions brought against private employers
pursuant to § 31-561q, and denying motion to strike).

% In so concluding, Justice Borden relied on Redgrave v. Boston Symphony
Orchestra, 855 F.2d 888, 904 (1st Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 448 U.S. 1043, 109



S. Ct. 869, 102 L. Ed. 2d 993 (1989), wherein the United States Court of
Appeals for the First Circuit, in applying the Massachusetts civil rights
statute to a claim arising from the defendant’s cancellation of the plaintiff’s
performance based on her expressed support for the Palestine Liberation
Organization, stated: “[W]here the issue is the plaintiff’s right to free speech,
the analogy [to the federal statute prohibiting private racial discrimination]
is strained. Such a right traditionally has content only in relation to state
action—the state must be neutral as to all expression, and must not unreason-
ably restrain speech or expression. The right is to be free of state regulation,
so that all private speech is formally on equal footing as a legal matter. In
the traditional context, this means that various private actors can, without
state interference, battle it out in the marketplace of ideas.

“In the present case, this application of the statute is made doubly unusual
because, unlike in the typical discrimination case, there are free speech
interests on the defendant’s side of the balance as well. The plaintiff's
statutory free speech right against the defendant is to be measured against
the defendant’s constitutional right against the state. If it were to enforce
the statute, the state would be entering the marketplace of ideas in order
to restrict speech that may have the effect of coercing other speech.

“We have grave concerns about the implication of such a conflict. If
constitutional protections are effectively to protect private expression, they
must do so, to some extent, even when the expression (or lack thereof) of
one private person threatens to interfere with the expression of another.
. . . The courts, noting that free speech guarantees protect citizens against
governmental restraints upon expression, have hesitated to permit govern-
ments to referee disputes between speakers lest such mediation, even when
it flies the banner of protecting speech, interfere with the very type of
interest it seeks to protect.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Cotto v.
United Technologies Corp., supra, 251 Conn. 31-32 (Borden, J., concurring
and dissenting).

% The plaintiff, supported by the amici curiae, contends that applying
Garceettt is contrary to the language and purpose of § 31-561q, as expressed
in its legislative history, which is described comprehensively in Cotto v.
United Technologies Corp., supra, 251 Conn. 9-13. Specifically, the plaintiff
describes as “particularly relevant” the remedial purpose of § 31-51q, and
the statement of Senator Howard T. Owens to the effect that § 31-51q was
intended to protect “internal whistle-blowers,” arguing that Garcetti “chills”
such speech. See Cotto v. United Technologies Corp., supra, 9-10, citing 26
S. Proc., Pt. 11, 1983 Sess., pp. 35697-3600. The plaintiff’s reliance on this
debate is, however, misplaced, given that § 31-51q, by its plain language,
applies only “to constitutionally protected speech”; Daley v. Aetna Life &
Casualty Co., supra, 249 Conn. 777, and the legislative debate about the
statute’s enactment took place twenty-three years prior to the Supreme
Court’s decision in Garcetti v. Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 410. See also Tiernan
v. Charleston Area Medical Center, supra, 203 W. Va. 14748 (The court
described § 31-51q as “the only legislative effort in the nation to extend
the full gamut of constitutional principles to private employers,” and as a
response to the fact that, in the absence of statutory enactment, no “state
court . . . has so applied state constitutional free speech principles to pri-
vate employers. Likewise, we have discovered no federal court which applies
the [flirst [aJmendment [f]ree [s]peech [c]lause to private employers.”).

Further, the text of § 31-561q does not by itself provide whistle-blower
protections beyond those afforded by the first amendment, and our opinion
in this case does not affect the whistle-blower protections afforded statuto-
rily by General Statutes § 31-51m, which are not at issue in this case. See
Tiernan v. Charleston Area Medical Center, supra, 203 W. Va. 148 and n.19
(The court emphasized that the conclusion that an “employee does not have
a cause of action against a private sector employer who terminates the
employee because of the exercise of the employee’s state constitutional
right of free speech” “does not invalidate nor impact upon the state’s whistle-
blower laws. . . . The whistle-blower laws present an independent statu-
tory basis for liability should an employer retaliate against an employee for
reporting wrongdoing or waste, as those terms are defined by statute.”
[Citation omitted.]); see also Garcetti v. Ceballos, supra, 547 U.S. 425-26
(“The dictates of sound judgment are reinforced by the powerful network
of legislative enactments—such as whistle-blower protection laws and labor
codes—available to those who seek to expose wrongdoing. . . . Cases
involving government attorneys implicate additional safeguards in the form
of, for example, rules of conduct and constitutional obligations apart from
the [flirst [almendment. . . . These imperatives, as well as obligations aris-



ing from any other applicable constitutional provisions and mandates of the
criminal and civil laws, protect employees and provide checks on supervisors
who would order unlawful or otherwise inappropriate actions.” [Citations
omitted.]); Cotto v. United Technologies Corp., supra, 251 Conn. 13-15 (sum-
marizing various statutes that “safeguard an employee from discharge for
expressions of opinion at a private workplace”).

2The Second Circuit cited decisions from the United States Courts of
Appeal for the Fifth, Seventh, Ninth, Tenth and Eleventh Circuits. See Wein-
traub v. Board of Education, supra, 593 F.3d 202-203, citing, e.g., Renken
v. Gregory, 541 F.3d 769, 773 (7th Cir. 2008) (professor’s complaints to
university officials about difficulty in administering grant); Brammer-
Hoelter v. Twin Peaks Charter Academy, supra, 492 F.3d 1204 (teachers’
discussions about academy’s expectations with respect to student behavior,
curriculum and pedagogy); Williams v. Dallas Independent School District,
supra, 480 F.3d 694 (athletic director’'s memoranda seeking information
about disposition of funds collected at events); Freitag v. Ayers, 468 F.3d
528, 546 (9th Cir. 2006) (prison guard’s internal complaints about supervisors’
failure to respond to inmates’ sexual harassment of her), cert. denied, 549
U.S. 1323, 127 S. Ct. 1918, 167 L. Ed. 2d 567 (2007); Battle v. Board of
Regents, 468 F.3d 755, 761 (11th Cir. 2006) (university employee’s report
alleging improprieties in supervisor’s handling and management of federal
financial aid funds).

% We first note that during the period of time before the defendant termi-
nated the plaintiff, he was a senior staff pathologist responsible for working
on prostate biopsy cases in the morning and Microcyte cases in the afternoon.
The plaintiff testified that, at that time, he worked on between 40 and 175
urine cases per day. After the launch of MicrocytePlus in February, 2005,
the plaintiff was still responsible for and was expected to sign out urine
cases using the new terminology.

After the launch of MicrocytePlus, however, the plaintiff stopped signing
out certain urine tests, conceding that he “declined to perform the Microcy-
tePlus test . . . .” The plaintiff told Miller, the lab oratory manager, that
he could not use the diagnostic language because he “didn’t understand
where the information came from, how it was developed,” and because
“nobody [had] explained to [him] what it means, the codes, the terms, the
new terms that [they] were using and [he] certainly couldn’t sign out because
it’s approved by the [World Health Organization], their classification system.”
Following the plaintiff’s express refusal to sign out a urine report, the plaintiff
met with Amberson and Miller to discuss his objections to this new test.
The plaintiff agreed to try and understand Amberson’s position, but he
continued to decline to use the new codes and, sometime thereafter, was
removed from the urine services.

The job related nature of the speech was made clear at trial, when the
plaintiff explained that he opposed the new diagnostic language because it
“was not consistent with what’s in the literature. I was opposed strongly
because it—I had no research or foundation. I'm very opposed to changing
laboratory results or data because it’s going to confuse the patient—the
physician. These are physician requested testing. So if I confuse the physi-
cian, the medical doctor, he’s not going to get what he wants. He’s not going
to do what he should be doing and that—that’s a safety issue. If then—
which is even more problematic—he’s or she’s confused is to—ultimately
. . . going to confuse that patient. Did I get the right tests or not. I got
hematuria, but they worked me up for bladder cancer. . . . So number one,
it can’t confuse [the] physician with existing tests I'm trying to distribute.
You can’t do that.” The plaintiff went on to explain that he expressed these
concerns to Amberson and “reminded him of our medical responsibilities.
I reminded him that he is ultimately responsible for the patient safety. And
public awareness is another thing. That he’s responsible that what we do
is safe and accurate.”

% Given our conclusion with respect to Garcetti, we need not address
in detail the defendant’s claims that, as a matter of law, the plaintiff's
insubordinate and disruptive speech was not entitled to first amendment
protection, other than to note that it is well established that “the [f]irst
[almendment’s shield does not extend to speech and conduct closely con-
nected with insubordination that impedes an employee’s performance of
his duties or that interferes with the proper functioning of the workplace.”
(Internal quotation marks omitted.) Hankard v. Avon, 126 F.3d 418, 422 (2d
Cir. 1997); see also, e.g., Connick v. Myers, supra, 461 U.S. 154 (termination
prompted by insubordination that can fairly be predicted to “disrupt the
office, undermine [supervisory]| authority, and destroy close working rela-



tionships . . . [does] not offend the [flirst [aJmendment”); Domiano v.
River Grove, 904 F.2d 1142, 1143, 1146 (7th Cir. 1990) (fire chief’s refusal
to follow town ordinance “was insubordination justifying dismissal”).
Indeed, an actual act of insubordination is not constitutionally required, as
the United States Supreme Court does “not see the necessity for an employer
to allow events to unfold to the extent that the disruption of the office and
the destruction of working relationships is manifest before taking action.”
Connick v. Myers, supra, 152; see also Domiano v. River Grove, supra, 1146
(performing balancing test under Pickering v. Board of Education, supra,
391 U.S. 568, and determining that insubordinate actions following otherwise
protected commentary were not protected speech). Thus, to the extent that
the plaintiff’s speech was simply a manifestation of his refusal to do his job
in the manner desired by his employer; see footnote 23 of this opinion; it
was unprotected under both the first amendment and the language of § 31-
51q. See also part II of this opinion for further discussion of the plaintiff’s
first amendment claims under Connick and Pickering.

% Citing Chapman Lumber, Inc. v. Tager, 288 Conn. 69, 952 A.2d 1 (2008),
the plaintiff also claims that the general verdict rule requires us to sustain
the jury’s verdict in this case because the defendant has not negated its
basis on his separate claim of a state constitutional violation. The plaintiff
contends that the general verdict on the constitutional claims under § 31-
51q must be left undisturbed because the defendant failed to brief, in accor-
dance with State v. Geisler, 222 Conn. 672, 610 A.2d 1225 (1992), a separate
and independent claim that the state constitution does not provide greater
protection than does the first amendment, thus rendering “a proper composi-
tion of the verdict . . . conceivable . . . .” Chapman Lumber, Inc. v.
Tager, supra, 115 n.47. We disagree. Inasmuch as it is undisputed that the
state constitutional issue was not litigated before the trial court, and the
plaintiff’s claim of entitlement to greater rights under our state constitution
is being raised for the first time in this case as an alternative ground for
affirmance pursuant to Practice Book § 63-4 (a), the plaintiff’s general verdict
argument is inconsistent with our long-standing approach to constitutional
interpretation, namely, that in the absence of a specific claim of entitlement
to greater protection under the state constitution, the court and the opposing
parties are entitled to presume coextensive protections under both the
federal and state constitutions. See Perez-Dickson v. Bridgeport, supra, 304
Conn. 498, citing State v. Gore, 288 Conn. 770, 776 n.7, 955 A.2d 1 (2008).

% See footnote 5 of this opinion. The amici curiae also claim the applicabil-
ity of article first, § 5, of the Connecticut constitution, which provides: “No
law shall ever be passed to curtail or restrain the liberty of speech or of
the press.”

" In the companion case, Perez-Dickson v. Bridgeport, supra, 304 Conn.
486, 496-98, we concluded that the rule set forth in Garcetti v. Ceballos,
supra, 547 U.S. 410, applied to bar an action under § 31-51q brought by the
plaintiff, a public school principal who had claimed, inter alia, that her
first amendment rights were violated when the defendants, school district
administrators, retaliated against her for reporting to the department of
children and families that teachers had physically abused two students.
After reversing the trial court’s decision to the contrary, we then declined
to review the plaintiff’s alternative ground for affirmance, which had claimed
that Garcetti is not applicable under the state constitution. Perez-Dickson
v. Bridgeport, supra, 498. Noting that the alternative ground for affirmance
had not been raised before the trial court, we emphasized that both the
trial court and the defendants were entitled to assume that the plaintiff’s
free speech rights under the state and federal constitutions were “coexten-
sive . . . .” Id., citing State v. Gore, 288 Conn. 770, 776 n.7, 955 A.2d 1
(2008). Observing that the plaintiff had failed to file a statement of alternative
grounds for affirmance under Practice Book § 63-4 (a) (1), we cited case
law, including New Haven v. Bonner, 272 Conn. 489, 498, 863 A.2d 680
(2005), pursuant to which “[o]nly in [the] most exceptional circumstances
can and will this court consider a claim, constitutional or otherwise, that
has not been raised and decided in the trial court. . . . This rule applies
equally to alternate grounds for affirmance.” (Internal quotation marks omit-
ted.) Perez-Dickson v. Bridgeport, supra, 498-99. “Such exceptional circum-
stances may occur where a new and unforeseen constitutional right has
arisen between the time of trial and appeal or where the record supports
a claim that a litigant has been deprived of a fundamental constitutional right
and a fair trial. . . . An exception may also be made where consideration of
the question is in the interest of public welfare or of justice between the
parties.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 499—500. Finally, the court



will not consider the alternative ground for affirmance unless the appellee
establishes that doing so will not prejudice the appellant. Id., 500 n.23, 501.

Applying this standard in Perez-Dickson, we declined to review the prof-
fered alternative ground for affirmance because: (1) the claim was not of
constitutional magnitude because claims under § 31-51q concern statutory,
rather than constitutional rights, including when the defendant is a public
employer; (2) there was no intervening change in the law and the plaintiff
had received a fair trial; and (3) doing so conceivably could prejudice the
defendants because they did not have the opportunity to consider the possi-
bility of state constitutional claims in appraising the case for settlement
purposes, and a conclusion determining a standard different than that estab-
lished in Garcetti could potentially lead to the expense of a retrial, rather
than a directed judgment. Id., 501.

We note that the alternative ground for affirmance raised in the present
case is founded on a record similar to that of Perez-Dickson. First, the
complaint in the present case did not raise the specter of a state constitu-
tional claim in seeking relief under § 31-51q, a matter that conceivably could
have influenced tactical determinations, including settlement valuation, at
the trial level. Second, the present case, like Perez-Dickson, presents a
purely statutory question under § 31-51q, especially insofar as it involves
only private sector actors.

% We note that the plaintiff does not claim that our state constitution
lacks a state action requirement for purposes of free speech infringement
by employers—a claim that has met near universal rejection. See, e.g.,
Edmondson v. Shearer Lumber Products, 139 Idaho 172, 177, 75 P.3d 733
(2003), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 1184, 124 S. Ct. 1426, 158 L. Ed. 2d 88 (2004);
Tiernan v. Charleston Area Medical Center, supra, 203 W. Va. 146-48.

» We note that, after the parties had completed their closing arguments
at trial, the trial court instructed the jury on the elements of the plaintiff’s
claim under § 31-51q and provided the jury with a verdict form containing
the following three interrogatories: “[1] Did [the plaintiff] prove, by a prepon-
derance of the evidence, that he spoke out on matters of public concern,
and that he was motivated to do so as a public citizen rather than for his
own private interests? . . . If your answer to this question . . . is [y]es,
proceed to the next question. [2] Did [the plaintiff] prove, by a preponderance
of the evidence, that his speech was a substantial and motivating factor in
[the defendant’s] decision to terminate his employment? . . . If your answer
to this question is . . . [yles, proceed to the next question. [3] Did [the
plaintiff] prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his speech did
not substantially or materially interfere with his bona fide job performance
or his working relationship with [the defendant]?” The jury subsequently
answered all three questions in the affirmative.

3 “For an employee to prevail he or she must also demonstrate that the
speech was the motivating factor causing the public employer to take adverse
action. . . . Even when the government cannot show a compelling justifica-
tion under Pickering for infringing on its employee’s rights, the government
still may succeed if it can demonstrate that it would have undertaken the
same adverse employment action even absent the protected speech. . . .
By the same token, when the government prevails in the balancing test, the
employee may still carry the day if he can show that the employer’s motiva-
tion for the discipline was retaliation for the speech itself, rather than for
any resulting disruption.” (Citations omitted.) Melzer v. Board of Education,
336 F.3d 185, 193 (2d Cir. 2003), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 1183, 124 S. Ct. 1424,
158 L. Ed. 2d 87 (2004).

31 Notably, the plaintiff’s sole response to the evidence adduced by the
defendant that the plaintiff’s refusal to sign out cases using the new diagnos-
tic terminology substantially interfered with his job performance is that his
refusal did not interfere with his employment because, as Amberson testified,
the plaintiff was willing to sign out cases using the old diagnostic terminol-
ogy. The plaintiff’s position appears to be that the defendant was obligated
to countenance his insubordination so long as he was willing to perform
his job on terms that were agreeable to him alone, despite the defendant’s
“long-standing policy that all pathologists would use the same diagnostic
terminology.” Not surprisingly, the plaintiff can cite no authority for this
proposition.

32 A comparison of the present case with Domiano v. River Grove, supra,
904 F.2d 1142, is illustrative of the constitutionally unprotected nature of
the plaintiff’s speech. In Domiano, the plaintiff, a local fire chief, was
removed from his job by the city after he made public statements expressing
his intention to disobey a recently enacted ordinance relating to his depart-



ment’s ambulance transportation of patients. Id., 1144. The plaintiff believed
that the new law was unsafe and expressed this view to his colleagues and
the media. Id. Applying the Pickering test, the Court of Appeals for the
Seventh Circuit concluded that, although the plaintiff’s “concern for the
safe transport of patients was commendable and his disagreement with the
ordinance was certainly protected speech; his adamant refusal to follow
the ordinance . . . was insubordination justifying dismissal.” Id., 1146. In
contrast to the present case, where the plaintiff stopped performing certain
tests, there was no evidence in Domiano that the plaintiff’s work had actually
been impeded by his disagreement with the new ordinance, that is, that he
had actually failed to transport patients in accordance with that ordinance.
The court concluded nevertheless that the plaintiff’s actions had “under-
mined department discipline and harmony and ignored [a lawful] directive
of [the plaintiff’s employer], thereby justifying his dismissal.” Id.




